

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Acta Biomaterialia 4 (2008) 468-476

Review



www.elsevier.com/locate/actabiomat

Special modes of corrosion under physiological and simulated physiological conditions

S. Virtanen^a, I. Milošev^{b,c,*}, E. Gomez-Barrena^d, R. Trebše^c, J. Salo^e, Y.T. Konttinen^{f,g,h}

^a Institute for Surface Science and Corrosion, Department of Materials Science (WW-4), University of Erlangen-Nuremberg,

Martensstrasse 7, 91058 Erlangen, Germany

^b Jožef Stefan Institute, Jamova cesta 39, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia

^c Orthopaedic Hospital Valdoltra Jadranska c. 31, 6280 Ankaran, Slovenia

^d Servicio de Cirugía Ortopédica y Traumatología, Fundación "Jiménez Díaz", Avda. Reyes Católicos 2, E-28040 Madrid, Spain

^e Töölö Hospital, Helsinki University Central Hospital, Topeliuksenkatu 5, 00029 HUS, Helsinki, Finland

^fInstitute of Clinical Medicine, Department of Medicine, University of Helsinki, Finland

^g ORTON Orthopaedic Hospital of the Invalid Foundation, Helsinki, Finland

^h COXA Hospital for Joint Replacement, Tampere, Finland

Received 2 October 2007; received in revised form 5 December 2007; accepted 5 December 2007 Available online 23 December 2007

Abstract

The aim of this article is to review those aspects of corrosion behaviour that are most relevant to the clinical application of implant alloys. The special modes of corrosion encountered by implant alloys are presented. The resistance of the different materials against the most typical corrosion modes (pitting corrosion, crevice corrosion and fretting corrosion) is compared, together with observations of metal ion release from different biomaterials. A short section is dedicated to possible galvanic effects in cases when different types of materials are combined in a biomedical device. The different topics covered are introduced from the viewpoint of materials science, and then placed into the context of medicine and clinical experience.

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ 2007 Acta Materialia Inc. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Biomaterials; Corrosion; Alloys; Physiological solution; Arthroplasty

Contents

1.	Introduction	469
2.	Passivity and breakdown of passivity	469
3.	The human body as a corrosive environment	469
4.	Relevant implant alloys	470
	4.1. Stainless steels	470
	4.2. Cobalt-based alloys	471
	4.3. Titanium-based alloys	471
5.	Special modes of corrosion of implant alloys	471
	5.1. Pitting corrosion	471
	5.2. Crevice corrosion	472
	5.3. Tribocorrosion/fretting corrosion	472

^{*} Corresponding author. Address: Jožef Stefan Institute, Jamova cesta 39, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia. Tel.: +386 1 4773 452; fax: +386 1 4773 822. *E-mail address:* ingrid.milosev@ijs.si (I. Milošev).

	5.4.	Observations on metal ion release	473
	5.5.	Galvanic and modularity effects.	474
6.	Concl	luding remarks	475
	Ackn	owledgment	475
	Refer	ences	475

1. Introduction

The performance of a biomaterial is determined by its chemical, physical and biological properties [1]. The key to understanding host response and, to a lesser degree, material response is knowledge of the participation of the material in the physiology of the host [2-4]. The majority of biomaterials present in clinical use are interactive materials, i.e. implantable materials designed to elicit specific, beneficial responses, such as ingrowth and adhesion. This article deals with metallic implant materials. One of the most important issues in the use of metallic biomaterials is their corrosion behaviour [5-8]. The corrosion behaviour of an implant is influenced by a wide variety of factors, including the material itself (e.g. the chemical composition, microstructure, surface condition), the surroundings (e.g. pH, temperature, O_2 content), as well as the construction (e.g. presence of crevices). Changes in these variables can have a further influence on the mode and rate of metal ion release. The tissue reaction to released metal species can vary considerably, from a mild response to severe disturbance of the local homeostasis within the host tissue adjacent to the metal implant [1]. Increased metal release eventually may lead to severe complications and failure of an implant system. Therefore, mechanistic information on the mode of metal release is required to predict behaviour in the biological environment.

2. Passivity and breakdown of passivity

The metallic materials which are typically used in biomedical applications, such as surgical stainless steel, and Co-Cr- and Ti-based alloys, are self-protected by the spontaneous formation of a thin oxide film. The passive layer formed on Ti-based alloys is mostly composed of TiO₂, whereas the passive films formed on surgical stainless-steeland Co-based alloys are strongly enriched in Cr₂O₃ oxide [9–13]. Although the thickness of these passive films is typically only a few nanometres, they act as a highly protective barrier between the metal surface and the aggressive biological environment. Consequently, the passive film kinetically retards the rate of dissolution by many orders of magnitude. The protectiveness of the passive film is determined by the rate of ion transfer through the film, as well as the stability of the film against dissolution (Fig. 1). A variety of factors can influence ion transport through the film, such as the film's chemical composition, structure, thickness and presence of defects. Principally, the nature and stability of a passive film on a particular metal or alloy



Fig. 1. Schematic illustration of a passive surface.

depend on the environmental conditions, such as the composition of the electrolyte, the redox conditions, the exposure time and temperature.

Depending on the type of oxide formed, the passive film may or may not remain stable and hence sustain passivity upon exposure to the biological environment, as will be discussed in this paper. Under certain conditions, localized breakdown of passivity takes place, leading to fast dissolution at the site of breakdown. Localized corrosion typically starts at sites characterized by inhomogeneities either in the material, or in the surrounding environment. Even though most of the surface is still covered by the intact passive film, the corrosion rate at locally activated sites can reach very high values. Localized corrosion may thus lead to unexpected deterioration of the whole system with disastrous consequences, although the total mass loss is actually small. Therefore, localized corrosion processes are more dangerous in nature and far less easy to predict than uniform corrosion.

3. The human body as a corrosive environment

The corrosive environment of body fluids can generally be simulated by a 0.9% NaCl solution containing small amounts of other inorganic salts at a temperature of 37 °C. Table 1 shows the chemical composition of human blood

Table 1						
A typical	l chemical	composition	of normal	human	blood	plasma

Ion	Concentration (mmol l ⁻¹)
Na ⁺	142.0
K^+	5.0
Mg^{2+}	1.5
Ca ²⁺	2.5
Cl ⁻	103.0
HCO ₃	27.0
HPO_4^{2-}	1.0
SO_4^{2-}	0.5

plasma [14]. The chemical environment of blood plasma is highly aggressive for many metals and alloys, due especially to the presence of a high concentration of chloride ions and their ability to induce localized corrosion. Other ions may also contribute to the corrosion process, either as accelerators or inhibitors. For instance, layers of Ca-phosphates precipitate on Ti and Ti-based alloys in simulated body fluids, as well as in vivo, but the effect of such deposit layers on the corrosion process has scarcely been considered.

The body temperature of 37 °C can accelerate electrochemical reactions and even change the mechanism of corrosion from that occurring at room temperature. Studies conducted at room temperature may lead to an underestimation of the risk of corrosion and direct extrapolation to body temperature is not straightforward. For example, the above-mentioned precipitation of Ca-phosphates is much more likely to occur at 37 °C than at room temperature.

In addition to inorganic species, body fluids contain different types of biomolecules and cells, which may attach to the biomaterial surface and affect the surface reactions. Proteins are a primary constituent of the synovial fluid in total joints with other organic components such as hyaluronic acid and lubricin. The formation of a protein-containing biofilm on the metal surface has been shown to enhance the corrosion process of the base alloy [15]. Although the biofilms also lubricate the surface, the total material degradation was increased due to increased corrosion [15]. However, it has not yet been clarified unambiguously whether biomolecules accelerate or inhibit electrochemical reactions [15-20]. Most probably the effect is specific for a particular metal/biomolecule combination. Cr and Co have similar protein-binding affinity and bind to protein in proportion to the added concentration ratio. However, Ni shows significant competition for Cr and Co binding moieties [19]. The concentration of released Fe, Cr and Ni ions from stainless steel immersed in Hank's physiological solution increased in the presence of various proteins in the following order: fibrinogen < globulin < transferin < albumin [16]. The enhancement of dissolution rate in the presence of proteins can be explained by the formation of complexes between metal ions and proteins [7,8]. These complexes can be transported away from the immediate vicinity. To retain the equilibrium the dissolution rate of a base metal increases and, consequently, suppresses the formation of the passive layer [16,17].

On the other hand, the proteins were reported to increase the corrosion resistance of the Ti-based alloy. Proteins, namely albumin, have been reported to interact with the repassivation process of the surface of Ti-alloys due to the change in the charge owing to their zwitterion character [20]. As the pH increases, the corrosion resistance of Tibased alloys improves, which has been ascribed to the adsorption of metal/protein/hydroxide complex at the metal surface which consequently restricts the dissolution of metal. Contu et al. observed higher polarization resistance in serum solution than in sodium sulphate [21]. This observation was ascribed to the adsorbed layer of organic molecules that hindered the oxygen evolution reaction and the charge transfer responsible for the passive film dissolution. The most relevant experiments in terms of physiological applications were performed by Hsu et al. [22]. The corrosion resistance of Ti–6Al–4V alloy in joint fluid was found to be significantly lower than in serum or urine.

Another significant factor determining the corrosion behaviour of metals is the pH of the environment. Typically, changes in the pH value in the body fluids are relatively small since the fluids are buffered. On implantation, the pH of the tissue surrounding the implant may decrease to values around 5, and then recover to 7.4 within weeks [23]. Local variations in pH value have been measured in periprosthetic tissue of revised hip implants [24,25]. Recurrence of pain in patients with cemented Müller straight femoral stems of Ti forged alloy was ascribed to the high acidity initiating crevice corrosion [24]. pH values were measured intraoperatively on explanted prostheses using a sting pH electrode [25]. Whereas the pH at the control point was 7.4 ± 0.06 , the pH values at the pathological interface tissues in aseptic and septic loosening varied between 4.38 and 7.7, i.e. the H^+ concentration varies over 1000-fold. [25]. In addition, hydrodynamic conditions (e.g. blood flow) around the implant surface influence mass transfer, and consequently the corrosion reactions.

From the corrosion point of view, the prevailing redox conditions are important. The oxygen content in the surroundings can vary depending on the specific application. In the case of alloys, the passivity of which is based on the presence of Cr_2O_3 -rich passive film on the surface, highly oxidizing conditions can lead to dissolution of the passive film by formation of soluble Cr(VI) species. Besides dissolved molecular oxygen O_2 , more active oxygen species such as H_2O_2 can be formed in biological reactions. The stability of the passive film is dependent on the availability of oxygen. The adsorption of proteins and cells onto the surface of materials could limit the diffusion of oxygen to certain regions of the surface, causing preferential corrosion of the oxygen-deficient regions and leading to the breakdown of the passive layer [1].

In addition to consideration of the chemistry surrounding an implant, the design of the implant and its surface treatment, particularly at the bone implant interface, affect the degradation mechanism of an implant. For instance, using a good cementation technique for a hip implant diminishes micromotions and fretting corrosion [26,27]. Patients with failures of the bone–implant interface have been reported to have higher metal levels in blood and urine compared to patients with well-fixed implants [28].

4. Relevant implant alloys

4.1. Stainless steels

In medicine, the stainless steel which is typically used (AISI 316L, ASTM F-55 and F-138) contains 17–20%

Cr, 13–15% nickel, 2–3% molybdenum and small amounts of other elements [29]. The notation "L" indicates that the steel has a low carbon content (<0.03%) and is therefore not susceptible to intergranular corrosion due to precipitation of Cr-carbides at the grain boundaries. Cr is the element mainly responsible for the high passivation ability of these alloys. An increase in Cr content, as well as in Mo content, strongly increases the resistance against localized breakdown of passivity. Stainless steel implants are used as temporary implants to help bone healing, as well as fixed implants such as for artificial joints. Typical temporary applications are plates, medullary nails, screws, pins, sutures and steel threads and networks used in fixing fractures. Use of steel in joint replacements has decreased since Co- and Ti-based materials became available. However, steel joints are still very popular and have an appreciable market share. The possible conversion of cutaneous metal sensitivity to Ni or Cr in patients receiving stainless-steel-based implants has also restricted its use although there is no evidence to support this danger [30]. Normally the body contains approximately 3-4 g iron. Clinical experience and accumulated knowledge suggest that the human body tolerates leachables from steel relatively well. Nevertheless, efforts have been taken to develop new, Ni-free stainless steels.

4.2. Cobalt-based alloys

As in stainless steels, alloying Co with Cr greatly enhances corrosion resistance [31-33]. Since the passivation of pure Co takes place only in alkaline solutions, Cr is the key alloving element in Co allovs with regard to corrosion resistance in oxidizing media. Mo has been found to be beneficial, especially under active corrosion conditions such as in hydrochloric acid. Co-based alloys used in total joint replacement surgery are cast Co-Cr-Mo alloy (Co-28Cr-6Mo, ASTM F-75) and wrought Co-Cr-Ni alloys (Co-Cr-W-Ni, ASTM F-90 and Co-Ni-Cr-Mo, ASTM F-562). The microstructure of the alloys and the resulting properties depend strongly on the production route (e.g. casting or forging), degree of cold-working, and heat treatment. The wrought Co-Ni-Cr-Mo alloys appear to have slightly better corrosion behaviour than the as-cast Co-Cr-Mo alloy [31]. Contemporary Co-Cr alloys are superior to stainless steel, both in fatigue and wear resistance, and are therefore preferred in total joint replacements, in both supportive and articulating locations. However, fatigue fracture still remains a possible complication [34], and corrosion issues after porosity initiation may occur.

4.3. Titanium-based alloys

Titanium (cp-Ti, ASTM F-67) and its alloys typically used in biomedical applications (Ti–6Al–4V, ASTM F-136-02a and Ti–6Al–7Nb, ASTM F-1295-05) can be considered as the most corrosion-resistant of the alloys described here. This is based on the very high stability of the TiO₂ passive film that forms spontaneously on the alloy surface [35]. TiO₂ is thermodynamically stable in the pH range between 2 and 12, and only complexing species, such as HF or H₂O₂, lead to substantial dissolution [35]. The effect of H₂O₂ (which may be generated in biological reactions) on the nature of the passive films formed on Ti in physiological solutions has been explored by Pan et al. [36,37]. Ti-based implant alloys also show stable passivity in neutral halide solutions. However, upon acidification, the Al-containing alloys (Ti-6Al-4V, Ti-6Al-7Nb) are significantly more prone to accelerated dissolution than cp-Ti [38].

The wear resistance of Ti and its alloys is relatively low and these materials should not be used where contact wear can occur. Metallosis, i.e. black coloration of the tissue induced by the release of wear metal particles, is often a consequence of wear due to metal-to-metal contact brought about by the changed geometry of the system [39,40], or modular interface corrosion between Co–Cr heads and Ti alloy stems [41].

5. Special modes of corrosion of implant alloys

5.1. Pitting corrosion

Pitting corrosion is a type of localized corrosion caused by local dissolution of the passive film and the formation of cavities surrounded by an intact passivated surface [42]. Pitting usually occurs in halide containing solutions, of which, for most metals, chloride ion is the most aggressive. Surgical stainless steel shows higher susceptibility than Coand Ti-based alloys to pitting and crevice corrosion in halide solutions. Corrosion damage is frequently observed at screw holes after removal of temporary stainless steel plates (Fig. 2). The resistance to pitting corrosion is dependent on Cr and Mo content, as well as on the content of MnS inclusions, where pit initiation takes place preferentially. The pitting potential of surgical-grade stainless steel measured in vitro is situated in a range which may be relevant to the prevailing redox conditions in the body. More-



Fig. 2. A stainless steel plate, popular in the fixation of hip fractures, removed after two years: corrosion can be observed at a screw hole.

over, relatively small variations in the steel composition (e.g. purity grade) or surface condition (e.g. roughness) may significantly influence the pitting behaviour.

Pitting corrosion of Co-28Cr-6Mo alloy is seldom observed, since it typically fails by transpassive dissolution. In contrast, pitting corrosion of surgical stainless steel is possible since the pitting potential is lower than the Cr(III) oxidation potential. In vitro study showed that transpassive dissolution of Co-Cr-Mo alloy leads to activation of the surface due to oxidation of the insoluble Cr(III) oxide laver to soluble Cr(VI) species [43]. Consequently, the metal ion release drastically increases. In the case of a passive film on stainless steel, secondary passivation by Fe oxides prevents the complete activation of the surface due to oxidation of Cr(III) to Cr(VI) species. For Co-based alloys, however, secondary passivation is not possible, since Co oxides are not stable under these conditions. Therefore, transpassive dissolution under moderately strong oxidizing conditions may be relevant for the performance of Cobased implants since it may induce the release of the toxic and carcinogenic Cr(VI) species.

Ti and Ti-based alloys show very high pitting potentials in chloride-containing solutions (around 10 V). Therefore, stable pitting corrosion is not a relevant failure mode for these materials in biomedical applications, since the relevant potential region in the body is clearly <1 V. Nevertheless, metastable pitting corrosion has been observed for cp-Ti and for the Ti-6Al-4V implant alloy in simulated physiological solutions [44]. Metastable pitting corrosion, which can be observed in an electrochemical experiment in the form of current transients, takes place in the potential region of stable passivity (i.e. below the pitting potential). In this case, local passivity breakdown events take place (pit nucleation/initiation), but little or no pit propagation takes place as for stable pitting corrosion. Instead, the small pits do not remain active and relatively fast repassivation takes place. Even though metastable pitting does not lead to a complete deterioration of the system, it nevertheless indicates that the metal is not completely stable in its environment. Moreover, it contributes to metal ion release into the surroundings. Metastable pitting corrosion has been quite widely studied for stainless steels, but much less for biomedical implant materials. For Ti, metastable pitting has been reported to take place in bromide solutions [45], and also in physiological media [44,46–48]. Metastable pitting activity was higher for the Ti-Al-V alloy than for pure Ti. In contrast to the metastable pitting of stainless steels, in which case the number of pit initiation events typically decreases as a function of time, the metastable pitting activity of Ti-based alloys remained high over the duration of the experiment. This behaviour may have some relevance to the mode of metal ion release from Ti-based implants.

5.2. Crevice corrosion

Crevice corrosion is a type of localized corrosion closely related to pitting corrosion. It occurs preferentially in regions on the metal surface where mass transfer is limited, e.g. in narrow crevices or under deposits. At these occluded areas the concentration of aggressive chloride ions, decrease in pH value and depletion of oxygen can rapidly lead to activation of the surface.

Stainless steel is the most susceptible of the three alloy groups discussed to crevice-induced localized corrosion. Pitting and crevice corrosion of Co–Cr alloys has not been studied as thoroughly as for stainless steels. Due to the very high Cr-content in the passive film of Co–Cr–Mo alloys, the material can be expected to be quite resistant against activation on local acidification. Our own unpublished work indicates that Co-wrought 28Cr–6Mo alloy shows practically no change of the dissolution rate upon acidification of a simple saline solution (0.14 M NaCl) at 37 °C from pH 7.4 to 4 or even 2, which confirms the stability at low pH.

Traditionally, it is claimed that crevice corrosion of Ti in chloride-containing solutions only takes place at elevated temperatures. A critical temperature of about 70–80 °C in chloride solutions has often been reported [49,50]. However, this process could also take place in crevices, where the pH value becomes reduced due to the hydrolysis of dissolved and trapped metal cations. Therefore, it has been recommended that cementation should not be used for Ti-based implants, to avoid the risk of locally increased dissolution rates in the crevice formed between the implant surface and the bone cement [24]. In vivo localized attack in the crevice region of a cemented Ti–6Al–4V stem is illustrated in Fig. 3.

5.3. Tribocorrosion/fretting corrosion

Tribocorrosion is defined as the conjoint action of mechanical wear and corrosive attack on a material surface. A special mode of tribocorrosion highly relevant to the field of biomedical implants such as hip, knee and shoulder replacements is fretting corrosion. Fretting cor-



Fig. 3. Localized corrosion on a cemented Ti–6Al–4V stem region due to crevice attack (magnification $70\times$).

rosion is a form of damage which occurs at the interface of two closely fitting surfaces when they are subjected to slight oscillatory slip and joint corrosion action. The damage is mostly restricted to the local site and the generated debris (mostly oxide) is usually accumulated locally, leading to an increase in stress. An increase in hardness generally leads to a reduction in fretting wear. Fretting corrosion can drastically alter the corrosion behaviour by mechanically destroying the passive film. Consequently, the ability of the material to repassivate, i.e. to rebuild the passive layer, becomes crucial. Fretting corrosion, alone or in combination with crevice corrosion, has been identified as one of the most important factors in implant corrosion [51-53]. Fretting scars observed on explanted implant made of Ti-based alloy are presented in Fig. 4.

It was reported that a decrease in pH had a negative effect on the fretting corrosion behaviour of stainless steel, but showed no effect for Ti or the Co–Cr alloy [54]. In another study, the stainless steel AISI 316L was found to exhibit better fretting corrosion behaviour than the titanium alloy Ti–6Al–4V [55]. The fretting corrosion of the latter depended critically on the prevailing electrochemical potential [56]. The two-phase α/β alloys Ti–Al–V and Ti–Al–Nb have been shown to possess a better combination of corrosion and wear resistance than cp-Ti, whereas pure Ti shows better corrosion behaviour [57].

The repassivation behaviour is of utmost importance for metal ion release during cyclic activation/repassivation events, such as those that take place under fretting conditions. For stainless steels, repassivation of bare metal surfaces has often been studied for other applications. For other metallic biomaterials, only a few studies on repassivation behaviour have been reported [58,59]. The repassivation rate of Ti was reported to be slower in a simulated physiological solution than in a simple NaCl solution [59]. Such findings demonstrate that the risk of metal ion release should be studied under as realistic conditions as possible.

5.4. Observations on metal ion release

The biological risks of metal ions include wear debris. colloidal organometallic complexes, free metal ions, and inorganic metal salts or oxide formation [60]. Metal ion release from implants has been reported in vitro as well as in vivo. Since the release of alloying elements can lead to toxic, allergic and idiosyncratic symptoms, the issue of metal release deserves special attention. Metal release can be measured locally, in periprosthetic tissue, or more relevantly, in body fluids, i.e. blood, serum or urine, which show systemic impact of metal release. The comparison of literature data is often not straightforward, since mass transport and metabolism play a role on the accumulation in the tissue vs. transfer into the blood or urine [60]. It was reported that the relative metal ion concentration in blood of patients with Co-Cr-Mo implants differs from that in their urine, i.e. 33% of Co, 51% of Cr and 16% of Mo in blood compared to 76% of Co and 24% of Cr in urine [60]. The difference can be explained by considering the fact that Cr is taken up by red blood cells, whereas Co is transported from tissues to the blood and is eliminated in the urine.

Mechanisms of metal ion release from metal implants have been recently summarized [61,62]. The aspect of preferential dissolution of certain alloying elements is emphasized. In the case of stainless steel, Fe was the major element released; Ni and Cr were detected in lesser but similar amounts that did not correspond to the alloy composition. Preferential release of Co was observed from Co-Cr-Mo alloy. For the Ti-based (Ti-Al-V, Ti-Al-Nb, Ti-15Zr-4Nb-4Ta) alloys, mostly Ti was released, but also significant amounts of Al and a small amount of V (for the Ti-Al-V alloy) could be detected. The amounts of Ti and Al release were similar for the two Ti-Al-(V,Nb) alloys. However, the quantity of Ti released from the Ti-Zr-Nb-Ta allov was much smaller than the quantity released from the Ti-Al-(V,Nb) alloys. This may reflect the very stable passivity of the alloy containing only valve metals as alloying elements.



Fig. 4. (a) Optical micrograph of fretting scars on the taper neck of a Ti–6Al–4V cemented stem and a Ti–6Al–4V head after 17 years in vivo, magnification 7×. (b) SEM image of fretting scars on the taper neck of a Ti–6Al–4V stem and AISI 316L stainless steel head after 14 years in vivo, showing fretting scars perpendicular to the machine lines.

A shift in pH value affects the metal ion release [61,62]. The amount of Co released from Co–Cr–Mo alloy was not affected by pH shift in the acid direction. However, for stainless steel AISI 316L and for different Ti-based materials, acidification induces an increased metal ion release, especially below pH \approx 4. The in vivo results were qualitatively in good agreement with the in vitro experiments; among different simulated physiological solutions, lactic acid appears to be the most suitable accelerated immersion test solution [61]. Since the experiments were carried out either by simply soaking the materials in the different solutions or by implantation in rat tibia, the effects of a conjoint action of wear and corrosion could not be evaluated [63]. Nevertheless, the data is valuable is assessing the chemical stability of the different materials.

Cr ions exist in two oxidation states: Cr^{3+} and Cr^{6+} . The Cr^{6+} ion is more harmful since it is carcinogenic. The release of hexavalent Cr from stainless steels and from Co–Cr alloys has been studied in vivo and in vitro [64]. Significantly higher amounts of released Cr were detected in vitro in the plasma following accelerated corrosion studies under anodic polarization for the F75 Co–Cr–Mo alloy than for stainless steel 316L. However, direct comparison of the Cr release from the two alloys is difficult due to different conditions of pre-passivation of the two alloys. Since the oxidation state of released ion depends on the redox potential of the environment, the question remains as to whether the redox conditions in the body are oxidizing enough to lead to transpassive dissolution.

Despite the high corrosion resistance of Co–Cr alloys, increased metal ion concentrations have been frequently observed in blood, urine, body tissues or organs of patients with implants. The potential effects and consequences of the release of alloying elements Co, Cr, and in some cases Ni, vary from cellular reaction to DNA damage [65]. In many cases the metal ion release may be due to combined mechanical and chemical effects: micromotions between the implant surface and bone cement mechanically activate the implant surface and, in the subsequent repassivation step, metal ion release takes place. Such continuous activation/repassivation cycles can lead to significant amounts of metal dissolution, as demonstrated in the laboratory [43].

Metal ion release has recently been debated in the clinical arena related to metal-on-metal articulation. Modern metal-on-metal designs manufactured from polished Co– Cr–Mo alloy show decreased wear compared to traditional metal-on-polyethylene designs but lead to the increased metal ion levels in blood in urine, even in patients with well-functioning implants [66,67]. Although, so far, elevated serum metal levels have not been linked to adverse health reactions, the long-term effects are not yet known. However, end-stage chronic renal diseases are regarded as a contraindication for the use of metal-on-metal articulation [66]. Malfunctioning devices may put the patient at considerable risk [68] and require prompt detection and revision.

5.5. Galvanic and modularity effects

Galvanic corrosion occurs when dissimilar metals are in direct electrical contact in corrosive solutions or atmospheres. Enhanced corrosion of the less noble metal takes place, whereas the corrosion rate of the more noble metal is reduced or even completely suppressed. However, once the metal or alloy is covered by a protective passive layer, the corrosion potential is typically that of a more noble metal than that of the bare metal surface. Therefore, judging solely by the standard potential values, one would overestimate the danger of galvanic corrosion. Since passive films act as very efficient barriers to corrosion, the danger of galvanic corrosion is lower for passive materials than for the coupling of actively corroding metals. Relative movement between the implant and the tissue, e.g. at a bearing surface or on a cyclically loaded implant, will cause mixing at the interface and will modify the composition of the electrolyte and may modify the surface of the alloy [1,53]. The charge imbalance thus created will result in sustained corrosion.

Due to the stable passivity of the alloys used, it has also been argued that galvanic corrosion poses no risk in a biomedical device [69]. This argument is valid for combinations of Ti and Co alloys. The values of corrosion potential, E_{corr} , after a 32-day exposure in Ringer's solution at pH 6.2 show stable passive behaviour with the following values: AISI 316L stainless steel -0.03 V, Co-28Cr-6Mo alloy -0.05 V and Ti-6Al-4V -0.15 V vs. saturated calomel electrode (SCE) [70]. Clinically, however, modular interfaces where Co-Cr and Ti alloys contact are a frequent origin of clinically significant corrosion-related problems [71,72]. Modularity may cause corrosion damage even when combining the same materials with different surface finishes. Fig. 5 shows damage on a rough taper neck made of Co-Cr alloy articulating inside a Co-Cr head. Improved tolerances of the mating surfaces in the Morse taper junction [26] or even coating the Co-Cr female



Fig. 5. Morse taper neck of a femoral Co–Cr stem corroded against a Co– Cr head in a non-cemented, modular early design. See the roughness of the Morse taper.

junction in the femoral head [73] may solve the problem of malfunctioning modular components. Generally, modular junctions are still considered a weak link of joint replacement and a possible source of complications.

Surgical steel should not be used in contact with Cobased implants, because the relatively poor corrosion resistance of steel can lead to rapid galvanic corrosion, if the stainless steel suffers pitting corrosion. However, if the conditions are not aggressive enough to trigger pitting or crevice corrosion of the stainless steel, and both materials remain in the stable passive state, coupling of the two materials will not lead to any significant change of the corrosion behaviour of the materials [74]. This situation was reported for spinal implants where galvanic corrosion between a Ti alloy and stainless steel was insignificant [75].

6. Concluding remarks

This paper described the behaviour of specific implant alloys in physiological and simulated physiological conditions. Even though generally recognized as a key issue in the success of a metallic implant, many questions still remain for a complete elucidation of the complex corrosion mechanisms at play. One drawback of in vivo studies is that it is more or less impossible to study the effect of single-parameter variations, and hence to identify the most critical factors leading to failure. Moreover, the understanding of the implant behaviour requires the analysis of failed implants. On the other hand, in vitro experiments inherently lack the direct correlation to the real case, as a reasonable simulation of the in vivo case is difficult. Therefore, to truly understand the corrosion mechanisms at the implant/biology interface, and to fill the gap between in vitro and in vivo studies, joint efforts between medicine, biology, materials science and engineering should be aimed at.

Acknowledgment

This study was carried out within the framework of the project COST 537 "Core laboratories for the improvement of medical devices in clinical practice from the failure of the explanted prostheses analysis FEPA".

References

- Ratner BD, Hoffman AS, Schoen FJ, Lemons JE. Biomaterials science: an introduction to materials in medicine. San Diego: Elsevier/ Academic Press; 2004.
- [2] Williams DF. Biofunctionality and Biocompatibility. In: Cahn RW, Haasen P, Kramer EJ, editors. Materials science and technology. A comprehensive treatment. vol. 14: Medical and dental materials. Weinheim: VCH; 1992. p. 2–26.
- [3] Castner DG, Ratner BD. Biomedical surface science: foundations to frontiers. Surface Sci 2002;500:28–60.
- [4] Kasemo B. Biological surface science. Surface Sci 2002;500:656-77.
- [5] Fraker AC. Corrosion of metallic implants and prosthesis devices. In: ASTM metals handbook (9th ed.) vol. 13. Corrosion. Metals Park, OH: ASM International; 1987, p. 1324–35.

- [6] Leclerc MF. Surgical implants. In: ASTM metals handbook (9th ed.) vol. 2. Metals Park, OH: ASM International; 1987, p. 164–80.
- [7] Jacobs JJ, Gilbert JL, Urban RM. Corrosion of metal orthopaedic implants. J Bone Joint Surg 1990;80-A:268–82.
- [8] Steinemann SG. Metal implants and surface reactions. Injury 1996;27:SC16–22.
- [9] Schultze JW, Lohrengel MM. Stability, reactivity and breakdown of passive films. Problems of recent and future research. Electrochim Acta 2000;45:2499–513.
- [10] Schmuki P. From Bacon to barriers: a review on the passivity of metals and alloys. J Solid State Electrochem 2002;6:145–64.
- [11] Milošev I, Metikoš-Huković M, Strehblow H-H. Passive film on orthopaedic TiAlV alloy formed in physiological solution investigated by X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy. Biomaterials 2000;21: 2103–13.
- [12] Milošev I, Strehblow H-H. The behavior of stainless steels in physiological solution containing complexing agent studied by Xray photoelectron spectroscopy. J Biomed Mater Res 2000;52:404–12.
- [13] Milošev I, Strehblow H-H. The composition of the surface passive film formed on CoCrMo alloy in simulated physiological solution. Electrochim Acta 2003;48:2767–74.
- [14] Oyane A, Kim HM, Furya T, Kokubo T, Miyazaki T, Nakamura T. Preparation and assessment of revised simulated body fluids. J Biomed Mat Res 2003;65A:188–95.
- [15] Yan Y, Neville A, Dowson D. Biotribocorrosion of CoCrMo orthopaedic implant materials: assessing the formation and effect of the biofilm. Tribol Int 2007;40:1492–9.
- [16] Minovič A, Milošev I, Pihlar B. The influence of complexing agent and proteins on the corrosion of stainless steels and their metallic components. J Mater Sci-Mater Med 2003;14:69–77.
- [17] Milošev I. The effect of complexing agents on the electrochemical behaviour of orthopaedic stainless steel in physiological solution. J Appl Electrochem 1002;32:311–20.
- [18] Omanović S, Roscoe SG. Electrochemical studies of the adsorption behavior of bovine serum albumin on stainless steel. Langmuir 1999;15:8315–21.
- [19] Yang J, Black J. Competitive binding to chromium, cobalt and nickel to serum proteins. Biomaterials 1994;15:262–8.
- [20] Khan MA, Williams RL, Williams DF. The corrosion behaviour of Ti-6Al-4V, Ti-6Al-7Nb and Ti-13Nb-13Zr in protein solution. Biomaterials 1999;20:631-7.
- [21] Contu F, Elsener B, Böhni H. Characterization of implant materials in fetal bovine serum and sodium sulphate by electrochemical impedance spectroscopy. I. Mechanically polished samples. J Biomed Mater Res 2002;62:412–21.
- [22] Hsu RW-W, Yang C-C, Huang C-A, Chen Y-S. Electrochemical corrosion properties of Ti–6Al–4V implant alloy in biological environment. Mater Sci Eng 2004;A 380:100–9.
- [23] Hench LL, Ethridge EC. Biomaterials: the interfacial problem. Adv Biomed Eng 1975;5:35–150.
- [24] Willert H-G, Brobäck L-G, Buchhorn GH, Jensen PH, Köster G, Lang I, et al. Crevice corrosion of cemented titanium alloy stems in total hip replacements. Clin Orthop Related Res 1996;333:51–75.
- [25] Konttinen YT, Takagi M, Mandelin J, Lassus J, Salo J, Ainola M, et al. Acid attack and cathepsin K in bone resorption around total hip replacement prosthesis. J Bone Miner Res 2001;16:1780–6.
- [26] Salvati EA, Gomez-Barrena E. Wear: osteolysis related to metallic debris. In: Sedel L, Cabanela ME, editors. Hip surgery: materials and developments. London: Martin Dunitz; 1998. p. 333–40.
- [27] Gonzalez Della Valle A, Rana A, Nestor B, Bostrom M, Westrich G, Salvati EA. Metallic shedding, surface finish changes, and extensive femoral osteolysis in the loose Spectron EF stem. Clin Orthop Related Res 2006;442:165–70.
- [28] Brien WW, Salvati EA, Betts F, Bullough P, Wright T, Rimnac C, et al. Metal levels in cemented total hip arthroplasty. A comparison of well-fixed and loose implants. Clin Orthop Related Res 1992;276:66–74.
- [29] Sedriks AJ. Corrosion of stainless steels. New York: Wiley; 1996.

- [30] Swiontkowski MF, Agel J, Schwappach J, McNair P, Welch M. Cutaneous metal sensitivity in patients with orthopaedic injuries. J Orthop Trauma 2001;15:86–9.
- [31] Williams DF. The properties and clinical uses of cobalt-chromium alloys. Biocompatibility of Clinical Materials, vol. I. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 1981. p. 99–123.
- [32] Asphahani AI. Corrosion of cobalt base alloys. In: ASM Metals Handbook. (9th ed.) vol. 13. Corrosion. Metals Park, OH: ASM International; 1987. p. 658–68.
- [33] Crook P, Silence WL. Cobalt alloys. In: Revie RW, editor. Uhlig's corrosion handbook. New York: Wiley Interscience; 2000. p. 717–28.
- [34] Della Valle AG, Becksac B, Anderson J, Wright T, Nestor B, Pellicci PM, et al. Late fatigue fracture of a modern cemented forged cobalt chrome stem for total hip arthroplasty: a report of 10 cases. J Arthroplasty 2005;20:1084–8.
- [35] Schenk R. The corrosion properties of titanium and titanium alloys. In: Brunette DM, Tengvall P, Textor M, Thoms P, editors. Titanium in Medicine. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 2001. p. 145–70.
- [36] Pan J, Thierry D, Leygraf C. Electrochemical and XPS studies of titanium for biomaterial applications with respect to the effect of hydrogen-peroxide. J Biomed Mater Res 1994;28:113–22.
- [37] Pan J, Thierry D, Leygraf C. Electrochemcial impedance spectroscopy study of the passive oxide film on titanium for implant application. Electrochim Acta 1996;41:1143–53.
- [38] Ruzickova M, Hildebrand, H, Virtanen S. Z Phys Chem 2005;219:1447–59.
- [39] Buly RL, Huo MH, Salvati E, Brien W, Bansal M. Titanium wear debris in failed cemented total hip arthroplasty. An analysis of 71 cases. J Arthroplasty 1992;7:315–23.
- [40] La Budde JK, Orosz JF, Bonfiglio TA, Pellegrini Jr VD. Particulate titanium and cobalt-chrome metallic debris in failed total knee arthroplasty. A quantitative histologic analysis. J Arthroplasty 1994;9:291–304.
- [41] Salvati EA, Lieberman JR, Huk OL, Evans BG. Complications of femoral and acetabular modularity. Clin Orthop Related Res 1995;319:85–93.
- [42] Zsklarska-Smialowska Z. Pitting corrosion of metals. Houston, TX: National Association of Corrosion Engineers; 1986.
- [43] Hodgson AWE, Kurz S, Virtanen S, Fervel V, Olsson COA, Mischler S. Passive and transpassive behaviour of CoCrMo in simulated biological solutions. Electrochim Acta 2004;49:2167–78.
- [44] Burstein GT, Liu C, Souto RM. The effect of temperature on the nucleation of corrosion pits on titanium in Ringer's physiological solution. Biomaterials 2005;26:245–56.
- [45] Virtanen S, Curty C. Metastable and stable pitting corrosion of titanium in halide solutions. Corrosion 2004:60643–9.
- [46] Burstein GT, Souto RM. Observations of localized instability of passive titanium in chloride solution. Electrochim Acta 1995;40:1881–8.
- [47] Souto RM, Burstein GT. A preliminary investigation into the microscopic depassivation of passive titanium implant materials in vitro. J Mater Sci Mater Medicine 1996;7:337–43.
- [48] Burstein GT, Liu C, Souto RM, Vines SP. Origins of pitting corrosion. Corros Eng Sci Techol 2004;39:25–30.
- [49] Mickay P, Mitton DB. An electrochemical investigation of localized corrosion on titanium in chloride environments. Corrosion 1985;41:52–62.
- [50] Schutz RW, Thomas DE. Corrosion of titanium and titanium alloys. In: Metals handbook (9th ed.) vol. 13. Metals Park, OH: ASM International; 1987. p. 669–706.
- [51] Brown SA, Flemming CA, Kawalec JS, Placko HE, Vassaux C, Merritt K, et al. Fretting corrosion accelerates crevice corrosion of modular hip tapers. J Appl Biomater 1995;6:19–26.
- [52] Gilbert JL, Buckley CA, Jacobs JJ. In vivo corrosion of modular hip prosthesis components in mixed and similar metal combination. The effect of crevice, stress, motion and alloy coupling. J Biomed Mat Res 1993;27:1533–44.

- [53] Khan MA, Williams RL, Williams DF. Conjoint corrosion and wear in titanium alloys. Biomaterials 1999;20:765–72.
- [54] Windler M, MacDougall JE, Schenk R. Investigation into wearinduced corrosion of orthopedic implant materials. In: Winters GL, Nutt MJ, editors. Stainless steels for medical and surgical applications. West Conschohocken: ASTM International; 2003. p. 211–21.
- [55] Duisabeau L, Combrade P, Forest B. Environmental effect on fretting of metallic materials for orthopaedic implants. Wear 2004;256:805–16.
- [56] Barril S, Mischler S, Landolt D. Electrochemical effects on the fretting corrosion behaviour of Ti6Al4V in 0.9% sodium chloride solution. Wear 2005;259:282–91.
- [57] Khan MA, Williams RL, Williams DF. In-vitro corrosion and wear of titanium alloys in the biological environment. Biomaterials 1996;17:2117–26.
- [58] Goldberg JR, Gilbert JL. Electrochemical response of CoCrMo to high-speed fracture of its metal oxide using an electrochemical scratch test method. J Biomed Mater Res 1997;37:421–31.
- [59] Hanawa T, Asami K, Asaoka K. Repassivation of titanium and surface oxide film regenerated in simulated bioliquid. J Biomed Mat Res 1998;40:530–8.
- [60] Sargeant A, Goswami T. Hip implants paper VI ion concentrations. Mater Design 2007;28:155–71.
- [61] Hanawa T. Metal ion release from metal implants. Mater Sci Eng 2004;C24:745–52.
- [62] Okazaki Y, Gotoh E. Comparison of metal release from various metallic biomaterials in vitro. Biomaterials 2005;26:11–21.
- [63] Okazaki Y, Gotoh E, Manabe T, Kobayashi K. Comparison of metal concentrations in rat tibia tissues with various metallic implants. Biomaterials 2004;25:5913–20.
- [64] Merritt K, Brown SA. Release of hexavalent chromium from corrosion of stainless steel and cobalt–chromium alloys. J Biomed Mat Res 1995;29:627–33.
- [65] Davies AP, Sood A, Lewis AC, Newson R, Learmonth ID, Case CP. Metal-specific differences in levels of DNA damage caused by synovial fluid recovered at revision arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2005;87-B:1439–44.
- [66] Brodner W, Bitzan P, Meisinger V, Kaider A, Gottsauner-Wolf F, Kotz R. Serum cobalt levels after metal-on-metal total hip arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2003;85-A:2168–73.
- [67] Lhotka C, Szekeres T, Steffan I, Zhuber K, Zweymuller K. Four-year study of cobalt and chromium blood levels in patients managed with two different metal-on-metal total hip replacements. J Orthop Res 2003;21:189–95.
- [68] Keel JB, Kuster MS. Massive wear of an incompatible metal-onmetal articulation in total hip arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty 2004;19:638–42.
- [69] Mears DC. The use of dissimilar metals in surgery. J Biomed Mat Res 1975;6:133–48.
- [70] Mansfeld F, Lee CC, Kovacs P. Application of electrochemical impedance spectroscopy (EIS) to the evaluation of the corrosion behavior of implant materials. In: Kovacs P, Istephanous NS, editors. Compatibility of biomedical implants, Pennington, NJ: The Electrochemical Society; 1994. p. 59–72.
- [71] Salvati EA, Gomez Barrena E. The contribution of metallic debris to osteolysis. Orthopedics 1994;17:763–5.
- [72] Lieberman JR, Rimnac CM, Garvin KL, Klein RW, Salvati EA. An analysis of the head–neck taper interface in retrieved hip prostheses. Clin Orthop Related Res 1994;300:162–7.
- [73] Yerby SA, Taylor JK, Park J, Shackelford JF. Corrosion at the interface. A possible solution to cobalt–chrome heads on titanium alloy stems. J Arthroplasty 1996;11:157–62.
- [74] Reclaru L, Lerf R, Eschler P-Y, Blatter A, Meyer J-M. Pitting, crevice and galvanic corrosion of REX stainless-steel/CoCr orthopedic implant material. Biomaterials 2002;23:3479–85.
- [75] Serhan H, Slivka M, Albert T, Kwak SD. Is galvanic corrosion between titanium alloy and stainless steel spinal implant a clinical concern? The Spine Journal 2004;4:379–87.